No. 45724-5-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Sidney Potts,**

Appellant.

---

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 12-1-00876-8

The Honorable Judges Michael Evans, Stephen Warning,

and Gary Bashor

**Appellant's Corrected Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**  
P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Mr. Potts's second trial violated his constitutional right not to be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.
2. The trial court erred by declaring a mistrial and discharging the first jury over Mr. Potts's objection.
3. The trial court erred by declaring a mistrial and discharging the jury without permitting defense counsel an opportunity to explain his position.
4. The trial court erred by declaring a mistrial and discharging the jury without considering available alternatives.
5. The trial court erred by declaring a mistrial and discharging the jury without finding these steps necessary to the proper administration of public justice.
6. The trial court erred by declaring a mistrial and discharging the jury without making a finding of manifest necessity.
7. The trial court erred by declaring a mistrial and discharging the jury without finding that extraordinary and striking circumstances required discontinuation of the trial, in order to obtain substantial justice.
8. The trial judge's decision to declare a mistrial and discharge the jury violated Mr. Potts's constitutional right to a verdict from the jurors who began deliberations on his case.

**ISSUE 1:** An accused person has a constitutional right to receive a verdict from the jury he selected for trial. Here, the trial judge declared a mistrial and discharged the jury over Mr. Potts's explicit objection, without considering available alternatives and without making necessary findings. Did Mr. Potts's second trial and ensuing convictions violate his double jeopardy rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. I, § 9?

9. Three of Mr. Potts's drug convictions violated his double jeopardy rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments.

10. The trial court violated Mr. Potts's right to be free from double jeopardy by entering convictions for both leading organized crime and the three predicate drug offenses supporting that conviction.

**ISSUE 2:** Multiple convictions violate double jeopardy if based on the "same evidence." Under the facts of this case, three of Mr. Potts's drug convictions were each the same offense as the leading organized crime charge. Did the trial court violate double jeopardy by entering judgment and imposing sentence for both leading organized crime and the three predicate offenses supporting that conviction?

11. The government violated Mr. Potts's right to counsel and to due process by intentionally eavesdropping on numerous private attorney-client telephone calls.
12. The state failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the multiple and repeated instances of eavesdropping by numerous law enforcement officers caused no prejudice.
13. The trial court applied the wrong legal standard when assessing the prejudice resulting from the unlawful government eavesdropping.

**ISSUE 3:** An accused person has a constitutional right to confer privately with counsel. Here, numerous police officers repeatedly eavesdropped on Mr. Potts's private phone calls with his attorneys, and the state failed to establish which officers overheard what information and how they used it. Did the prosecution fail to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the multiple instances of unlawful eavesdropping had no effect?

14. The trial court erred by concluding that Mr. Potts had waived his right to communicate privately with his attorney.
15. The trial court erred by implicitly finding that Mr. Potts heard warnings that calls to his attorney would be recorded.
16. The trial court erred by implicitly finding that Mr. Potts should have ignored notices indicating that attorney calls were exempt from recording, and instead believed the automated warnings played at the beginning of each call.

17. The trial court erred by implicitly finding that Mr. Potts knew he was supposed to contact his attorney using a phone number listed in the name of his attorney's son.
18. The trial court erred by implicitly finding that Mr. Potts understood the jail's phone system and intentionally called his attorney using the wrong phone number.
19. The trial court applied the wrong legal standard when concluding that Mr. Potts had waived his right to communicate privately with his attorney.

**ISSUE 4:** The state bears the burden to prove waiver of an important constitutional right. Here, the state failed to prove that Mr. Potts knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his right to confidential communication with his attorney. Did the trial court apply the wrong legal standard when inferring that Mr. Potts waived his right to communicate privately with his attorney?

20. The trial court erred by admitting into evidence private conversations illegally recorded in violation of the Privacy Act.
21. Detective Epperson and his colleagues failed to strictly comply with the requirements of the Privacy Act.
22. Mr. Potts was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
23. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to raise certain grounds for exclusion of evidence obtained in violation of the Privacy Act.

**ISSUE 5:** Police must strictly comply with the Privacy Act before they may intercept or record private communications. Here, the prosecution introduced three recordings made in violation of the Privacy Act. Did the erroneous admission of illegally recorded communications violate the Privacy Act?

**ISSUE 6:** The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused person the effective assistance of counsel. In this case, defense counsel failed to argue several grounds for suppression of evidence under the Privacy Act. Was Mr. Potts denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

24. Mr. Potts's conviction for leading organized crime violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because it was based on insufficient evidence.
25. The prosecution failed to prove that Mr. Potts organized, managed, directed, supervised, or financed three people, including Christian Velasquez, in the delivery of controlled substances for profit.

**ISSUE 7:** A conviction for leading organized crime requires proof that the accused oversaw three or more people with intent to engage in a pattern of criminal profiteering. Here, the state presented evidence that Mr. Potts exerted authority over two others involved in drug dealing, but did not prove that he had any connection to a third person. Did the conviction for leading organized crime infringe Mr. Potts's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because it was based on insufficient evidence?

26. Mr. Potts's conviction for leading organized crime infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the court's instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove the essential elements of the crime.
27. The court's instructions failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
28. The court's instructions allowed conviction even if the state failed to prove the essential elements of leading organized crime.
29. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 10 over Mr. Potts's objection.
30. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 18 over Mr. Potts's objection.
31. The trial court erred by refusing Mr. Potts's proposed elements instructions on leading organized crime.
32. The trial court erred by refusing Mr. Potts's proposed instructions on accomplice liability.

**ISSUE 8:** A court violates due process when its instructions relieve the state of its burden to prove every element of a charged crime. Here, the instructions allowed jurors to convict Mr.



Potts of leading organized crime even if the prosecution didn't prove the essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt. Did the trial court's instructions violate Mr. Potts's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because they relieved the prosecution of its burden to prove the elements of leading organized crime?

33. The prosecutor committed misconduct that infringed Mr. Potts's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
34. The prosecutor misstated the law by telling jurors "[t]here's another word for speculation, and the word is circumstantial."
35. The trial court erred by failing to sustain Mr. Potts's objection to the prosecutor's misconduct.
36. The trial court erred by failing to instruct jurors to disregard the prosecutor's improper comments.

**ISSUE 9:** A prosecutor commits misconduct by mischaracterizing the law in closing argument. Here, the prosecutor told jurors "[t]here's another word for speculation, and the word is circumstantial." Did the prosecutor's misconduct violate Mr. Potts's Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial?

37. Mr. Potts was denied his right to a speedy trial.
38. Mr. Potts was held in jail for more than nine months without a proper arraignment.
39. Mr. Potts's "actual arraignment" under CrR 3.3(d)(1) did not occur until the allowable time for his initial trial date had passed.

**ISSUE 10:** In a criminal case, the superior court must set the "initial trial date" within fifteen days of the accused person's "actual arraignment." Here, Mr. Potts did not have an "actual arraignment" until more than nine months after the Information was filed. Should the trial court have dismissed the prosecution against Mr. Potts for violation of his right to a speedy trial?

40. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Potts's motion to suppress items obtained in violation of his right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures under the Fourth Amendment.

41. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Potts's motion to suppress items obtained in violation of his right to privacy under Wash. Const. art. I, § 7.
42. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 1 (CP 126).
43. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 3 (CP 126).
44. The trial court erred by adopting Finding of Fact No. 4 (CP 126).
45. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 1 (CP 127).
46. The trial court erred by adopting Conclusion of Law No. 2 (CP 127).
47. The trial court erred by granting the prosecutor's Motion to Reconsider.
48. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Potts's Motion to Reconsider.

**ISSUE11:** A search warrant must be based on probable cause. Here, the trial court denied Mr. Potts's motion to suppress despite:

- a. failure of the issuing magistrate to find probable cause for two of the three properties
- b. failure of the issuing magistrate to authorize a search of two of the three properties;
- c. failure of the affidavit to establish a nexus between any evidence of criminal activity and the locations to be searched;
- d. failure of the affidavit to establish probable cause to seize the items described, including items protected by the First Amendment;
- e. the staleness off the information in the affidavit; and
- f. the absence of evidence establishing the informant's reliability.

Did the trial court err by denying Mr. Potts's motion to suppress evidence seized in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, § 7?

**ISSUE 12:** A search warrant that permits seizure of items protected by the First Amendment requires close scrutiny. The warrant here authorized police to search for and seize "books, letters, papers, notes, pictures, photographs, video and/or audio

cassette tapes, computers, palm pilots, cell phones, pagers or documents...[and] [b]ooks, records, receipts, notes, letters, ledgers, and other papers” despite the absence of any evidence that such items existed, that they would be found in the locations to be searched, or that they related to any criminal activity. Was the search warrant unconstitutionally overbroad?

49. The trial court erred by submitting an inapplicable aggravating factor to the jury on count one (leading organized crime).
50. The trial court erred finding that the leading organized crime charge qualified as a major violation of the uniform controlled substances act.

**ISSUE 13:** The “major violation” aggravator for drug crimes applies only if the current offense is a violation of chapter 69.50 RCW. Leading organized crime is not a violation of chapter 69.50 RCW. Did the trial court err by imposing an exceptional sentence based in part on the jury’s finding that the leading organized crime offense was a major violation of chapter 69.50 RCW?

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>1</sup> AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

Joseph Hellesley was a methamphetamine dealer and user. Cowlitz county police targeted him and completed three controlled buys. RP 1983, 2251-2252, 2274. All three transactions occurred in school zones. RP 2075.

When he was arrested, Hellesley wanted to work with police so that he would not face charges. RP 1983, 2074. He offered to complete buys from Sidney Potts. RP 1984, 2254. Detective Rocky Epperson and

---

<sup>1</sup> Additional facts relating to speedy trial, instructional issues, suppression motions, and police eavesdropping on Mr. Potts’s attorney calls are found in the Argument section of the brief.

Hellesley agreed to a contract. RP 2077. Among other requirements, Hellesley was to refrain from buying or selling methamphetamine except for those purchases he completed for the police. RP 1985. Hellesley also agreed to not use drugs, to tell the truth, and to submit to urinalysis tests and searches. RP 1985, 1987. In exchange for three buys from Mr. Potts, Hellesley would not be charged for any of his sales of methamphetamine. RP 1985, 2253. Epperson never asked Hellesley to submit a UA, and Hellesley kept using methamphetamine.<sup>2</sup> RP 1987-1989, 2275.

Epperson and Hellesley tried to set up a buy for July 17, 2012, but it did not take place. RP 1990. On that day, Epperson listened in on Hellesley's attempts to arrange a buy by telephone. RP 1990-1991. The calls were also recorded. CP 668-671. The next day, more calls were made, and recorded, and a deal took place. RP 1992-2011. Epperson wired Hellesley to record during the transaction itself, but the system malfunctioned. RP 2012.

Hellesley and Epperson set up another buy on July 24, 2012. The calls and transaction were recorded. RP 2030-2037. The third buy was arranged and took place on July 31, 2012. RP 2080. Again, the calls and transaction were recorded. RP 2044-2048, 2054-2058.

---

<sup>2</sup> As detailed below, he kept buying and selling methamphetamine as well. RP 2086-2092, 2166.

After this buy, Hellesley met Angelita Llanes and purchased methamphetamine from her. RP 2086. He did not do this as part of his action for police, and did not tell them he'd met Llanes or purchased from her. He sold the meth he bought from her. He failed to share this with police either. RP 2086-2092, 2166. Llanes told Hellesley that Mr. Potts was getting out of the business and that Hellesley should deal with her from now on. RP 2164-2166.

Police arrested Mr. Potts on August 10, 2012. RP 2081. Later that day, a buy took place between Hellesley and Angelita Llanes. RP 2081-2085. Hellesley called Llanes, set up the buy, and then went to it. This buy was recorded. RP 2061-2067.

As part of their investigation after the buys occurred, the police sought several search warrants. One of the requested warrants was related to a bank account held in Mr. Potts's name at Red Canoe bank. CP 58-69. The officer used a "special inquiry" procedure to obtain the information. The presiding judge was Judge Bashor, the county's designated special inquiry judge. RP 586. The warrant was authorized, and the accounts were seized, along with all of their accompanying records. CP 65-69.

Epperson also sought warrants to search three buildings. The first was at 411 Oregon Way, the second at 1275 Alabama Street, and the third at 2839 Louisiana Street, all in Longview. CP 22-27. The application re-

ferred to all three locations and explained their alleged connection with Mr. Potts. CP 22-27. The issuing court signed one warrant. The judge found probable cause only for the search of the Oregon Way location, stating “I am satisfied there is probable cause .... Located at [ ] Oregon Way in Longview.” CP 30, 36, 46; RP 190. The warrant directed police to search the Oregon Way property. It did not direct police to search the other properties. CP 30, 36, 46; RP 190.

The state charged Mr. Potts on August 15, 2012 with leading organized crime, two counts of substance delivery in a school zone, two counts of delivery, and possession with intent. All carried the aggravating factor allegation that they were major violations of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act. CP 1-4.<sup>3</sup>

On August 28, 2012, the court held a hearing, which the clerk labeled “Arraignment. Judge Bashor presided. RP 7-8.

While Mr. Potts was in jail, the state notified him that his calls to his attorney had been recorded by the jail and reviewed by police.<sup>4</sup> RP 56-62. The court appointed a special prosecutor to investigate the issue. A

---

<sup>3</sup> A charge of Money Laundering was filed as well, but later dismissed on the motion of the state. CP 1-4.

<sup>4</sup> The retained defense attorney withdrew from the case on October 11, 2012. Mr. Potts agreed to the withdrawal, but noted that he did not wish to waive his right to a speedy trial. RP 41. The court appointed an attorney, who quickly withdrew due to a conflict. RP 44-45, 50.

new trial date was set, based in part on the state's claim that a new speedy period would start due to a new attorney appointment. RP 63-67.

The defense moved to suppress the fruits of the searches of the three buildings.<sup>5</sup> CP 5-50. Mr. Potts's attorney argued that the affidavit in support of the search warrant request did not link the allegations to the locations to be searched. RP 79, 109-110; CP 5-20.

The court found that the search of the Louisiana Street location lacked probable cause and suppressed the fruits of that search. RP 114. The court upheld the searches of the other two locations. RP 111-114; CP 126-127. The prosecutor moved for reconsideration, which the court granted. CP 128-133. The defense moved for reconsideration on the other two locations, which the court later denied. RP 140-142; CP 93-95, 361-363.

The state later agreed that they would not offer any evidence found during the search of the Louisiana property. RP 423-424. Later still, the

---

<sup>5</sup> Mr. Potts also filed a motion to suppress bank records, arguing that the special inquiry procedures were not followed and that the search lacked probable cause. RP 484-495. The state responded that they would not offer any evidence from the bank records. RP 221-222, 491. The state stipulated that the special inquiry procedure was not in fact initiated. RP 436-437. The trial judge ruled that the items seized as part of the Red Canoe bank account must be returned, and that they should also be suppressed. RP 496-498.

Mr. Potts filed multiple motions for return of property seized by police during their searches of the three locations as well as regarding the bank accounts. RP 462-482; CP 438-444, 558-565, 636-649, 1558-1564, Motion for Return of Property, Supp CP. The prosecutor offered to stipulate that the occupant of the house, Ms. Horner, did not receive a copy of the warrant from the officers during the search. RP 423-425.

state further agreed to not offer any evidence from the Alabama Street location either. RP 726.

At some point, Hellesley told Epperson that he had been dishonest with him. He admitted that he met Llanes before the last deal. RP 2073-2074. Epperson had filed a report that stated that Hellesley first met Llanes during the final buy. When Epperson found out this information was not true, he did not tell the state or file a new report. RP 2074.

The court considered the defense motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3, relating to the officers listening in to Mr. Potts's attorney calls.<sup>6</sup> CP 105-125. The state claimed that the content of the calls led to no evidence he planned to admit at trial. RP 169, 171-172. In his oral ruling, Judge Warning stated:

Police officers realized they were listening to conversations between Mr. Potts and his then attorney or with other attorneys. And, for reasons that are utterly beyond my ken, the submarine klaxons didn't start going off, the flashing red lights didn't happen. They continued to listen to them....The information came to the attention of the Prosecutor's Office and again for reasons that are beyond my understanding, the submarine klaxons didn't start going off for about a week or thereabouts.

...

I don't reach the whole *Corey* issue because as -- yeah, I've got to say foolish as the conduct was in not just, you know, throwing up the hands and saying, "Wait a minute. We've got a problem," the first requisite requirement of any of these issues is that there is a fundamental right of the Defendant that's been violated.  
RP 174-176.

---

<sup>6</sup> Additional facts relating to this issue are contained in the Argument section.

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