No. 45724-5

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

vs.

SIDNEY POTTS, Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

RYAN JURVAKAINEN Prosecuting Attorney DAVID PHELAN/WSBA #36637 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address: Hall of Justice 312 S. W. First Avenue Kelso, WA 98626 Telephone: 360/577-3080

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

c. THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO DETERMINE WHETHER THERE WAS PREJUDICE TO APPELLANT

The special prosecutor's report, with attached documents and transcripts provided sufficient information for the court to make its findings. *Fuentes* did not create a requirement of sworn-testimony. The *Fuentes* court had only the single declaration by the prosecutor, which is why it was remanded for additional discovery. 179 Wn.2d at 821, 318 P.3d 257. In this case, the court had the complete report of the appointed

Special Prosecutor, transcripts of interviews done with the principle officers involved in the case, photographs, and call logs.

d. THERE WAS NO PREJUDICE RELATED TO THE SPECIAL PROSECUTOR'S INABILITY TO DETERMINE WHO IN THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS MAY HAVE ACCESSED THE CALLS

The special prosecutor interviewed the only DOC officers who had any relationship with the case or the detectives involved in the case and found that those officers had not accessed any of the calls. The fact that the special prosecutor was unable to determine who in the Department of Corrections office may have accessed the calls is irrelevant, since the investigation revealed that none of that information was relayed to detectives involved. CP 164.

e. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE JAIL SYSTEM WAS NOT WORKING

The jail call system was working to block registered numbers. Appellant alleges that because the jail system recorded blocked calls, the State cannot prove the system was working correctly and thus ALL subsequent calls by Appellant to his parade of attorneys are presumed to have been recorded. This allegation seems to be based on a misunderstanding of the exhibits attached to the special prosecutor's report. The report had two separate call logs attached, one which documented the calls to James Morgan's main line that were accessed, and the other, which detailed "all of the calls made by Mr. Potts since his incarceration." CP 159. There are several calls listed on that log that show numbers apparently attributable to Sam Wardle and Michael Long, but there is NO evidence in the record, anywhere, that suggests that those calls were accessed. The source of this misunderstanding is likely the "Defendant Potts' Supplemental Motion to Reconsider CrR 8.3 Ruling," filed by Appellant's then-lawyer Bruce Hanify. CP 390. He stated that calls to Wardle and Long were accessed and the attached "Exhibit A" shows a list of calls with references to specific page numbers. CP 395. This document is clearly a reference to the log of ALL phone calls that was provided by the Special Prosecutor. There is no evidence whatsoever that these calls were accessed. Even numbers that are blocked show up in the call list, they are just not accessible. CP 313. Detective Epperson stated that there was calls in the list he could not open and that he was told by Detective Sawyer that those were likely attorney calls that he was blocked from accessing. CP 313. There is no evidence anywhere in the record that any attorney calls other than the ones listed in Exhibit 1/Appendix B were accessed by law enforcement, or that any subsequent calls were available to law enforcement.

f. THE STATE PROVIDED "EXHIBIT 1" TO THE COURT

The State provided "Exhibit 1" to the court and the court considered it in rendering its decision. Appellant alleges that the State failed to include this exhibit and that the State's failure to include the "critical document" makes it impossible for the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that no prejudice occurred. "Exhibit 1," was just a list of calls to 360-425-3091 (James Morgan's public line) and was referred to as "Appendix B" in the special prosecutor's report. CP 159. The report/exhibit is CP 167-68.

g. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE SPECIAL PROSECUTOR OR THE INVESTIGATOR WERE BIASED

Neither the special prosecutor nor the investigator exhibited bias in the case. There is no evidence that either individual had an interest in the outcome of the case and every part of their investigation, including transcripts of their interviews was provided for review. Appellant contends that their failure to document other attorney calls that were accessed suggests that they were biased, but that contention is based on the mistaken belief that attorney calls other than the ones at issue were actually accessed. As previously addressed, that is not the case.

There is no evidence that officers listened to any other phone calls between Appellant and his various attorneys. Appellant returns several time to the idea that somehow the officers kept listening to the phone calls between Appellant and his various lawyers. As was pointed out in court at the time the motion was heard, the call log that is repeatedly referenced by the Appellant as showing that calls to his other attorneys were recorded was a general call log that simply showed ALL calls made by the Appellant. RP 169. There is nothing in the record to show that those calls were recorded.

V. THE WIRE RECORDINGS WERE APPROPRIATELY ADMITTED AT TRIAL

a. OVERVIEW

The intercepts from the first three controlled buy operations, all admitted at trial, were appropriately authorized under RCW 9.73.230. As a general matter, Appellant's repeated reliance on *State v. Fjermestad* for the proposition that RCW 9.73.230 violations are tantamount to unlawful recordings under RCW 9.72.030 is incorrect. The Washington State Supreme court clarified in *State v. Jimenez* that *Fjermestad* and *Salinas* only applied where there was "the absence of any attempt by the investigating officers to comply with RCW 9.73.230." 128 Wn.2d 720, 726, 911 P.2d 1337 (1996), *citing State v. Fjermestad*, 114 Wn.2d 828, 791 P.2d 897 (1990) *and State v. Salinas*, 121 Wn.2d 689, 853 P.2d 439 (1993). The detectives in this case only made recordings of conversations after being granted authorization pursuant to RCW 9.73.230. Appellant's claims that any suppression of the wire recording should also include suppression of the related testimony simply do not apply to any of the recordings at issue in this case. For authorizations that are not compliance with RCW 9.73.230, only the "intercepted or recorded communication itself will be inadmissible." *Id.* The suppression of other evidence is precluded by the "unaided evidence provision" in RCW 9.73.230. *Id.*

If the court were to find any of the authorizations failed to comply with the exact requirements of RCW 9.73.230, any such error would be harmless, because the informant and all the involved detectives testified as to their live experience at trial. Under *Smith II*, where there is a genuine effort to comply, the underlying testimony is still admissible even if the wire recordings are not. *State v. Smith*, 85 Wn.App. 381, 392, 932 P.2d 717 (1997). The court in *Smith II* found that because the authorization was otherwise compliant with the statute, in spite of the generic location, it demonstrated good faith and found that the detectives live testimony would have been admissible, rendering the admission of the recording harmless. *Id.* The same would hold true in this case, so even if the court finds deficiencies in the authorizations, any claimed error is harmless.

b. THE RECORDED PHONE CALLS DID NOT EXCEED THE SCOPE OF THE WIRE AUTHORIZATION

pg. 29

RCW 9.73.230 authorized detectives to capture more than a single conversation. This exact scenario was contemplated in *State v. Forest.* 85 Wn.App. 62, 930 P.2d 941 (1997), *review denied* 133 Wn.2d 1015, 946 P.2d 403 (1997). In the *Forest* case, appellant argued that the authorization only applied to a single conversation. *Id.* at 68, 930 P.2d 941. The court ruled that "the Legislature did not intent do limit agency authorization to one conversation per authorization." *Id.* The court recognized that it is the norm, rather than an exception, that a drug transaction involve multiple contacts in order to actually complete the transaction. *Id.* Nor is it beyond the scope of the authorization that the initial phone contact to set up the transaction be recorded. It is all part of the same transaction and it is certainly contemplated by the authorization that the detectives would attempt to capture the entire transaction.

c. LIVE TESTIMONY OF THE AUGUST 10th TRANSACTION WAS APPROPRIATELY ADMITTED

The witnesses to the August 10th controlled buy operation were appropriately allowed to testify by the trial court. Appellant claims that because there was no disposition report for the August 10th wire authorization, any evidence related to that authorization must be suppressed. First, to be clear, the State <u>did</u> produce the authorization for the August 10th controlled buy intercept, it was only the disposition sheet that was to be filed with the court that could not be located. RP 518. This is important, because the court is not faced with a situation akin to *State v. Fjermestad*, where officers intercepted communications without any lawful authority under the Privacy Act. 114 Wn.2d 828, 791 P.2d 897 (1990). When the State discovered that the disposition sheet could not be found, it stipulated to suppression of the recording. RP 518. Live testimony from the witnesses was, however, offered at trial.

The interception was obtained with a lawful authorization. In this case, officers procured an authorization prior to the interception, but failed to file the disposition report. RP 518. Washington courts have recognized that two separate states exist for evaluating compliance with RCW 9.73.230, pre-intercept and post-intercept. *State v. Knight*, 79 Wn.App. 670, 686, 904 P.2d 1159 (1995), *review denied*, 129 Wn.2d 1005, 914 P.2d 65 (1996), *State v. Moore*, 70 Wn.App. 667, 855 P.2d 306 (1993). In fact, in *Moore*, the court found that RCW 9.73.230 only considered whether the authorization met the appropriate requirements when determining admissibility of the evidence, referencing subsection (8) which stated that the evidence was admissible if the court found that "the requirements of subsection (1) of this section were met." RCW 9.73.230(8). The court admitted a tape recording in *Moore* where there was no record of judicial review, essentially the trial court examined the

authorization for the recordings and found them in compliance. *Moore*, 70 Wn.App. at 673, 855 P.3d 306. This admission was upheld. *Id.* at 675, 855 P.3d 306.

In this case, where there was an attempt at compliance and the error occurred after the interception of the communication and that interception was appropriately authorized, suppression of the live testimony of the witnesses would have been inappropriate. Because the interception occurred based on a lawful authorization, there was substantial compliance with the statute, even though no disposition sheet was ever filed. When law enforcement officers make a genuine effort to comply with the Privacy Act, the statute does not require the suppression of evidence other than the intercepted or recorded communication itself. *State v. Jimenez*, 128 Wn.2d 720, 722, 911 P.2d 1337 (1996).

Moreover, the Privacy Act specifically notes that even if the requirements of RCW 9.73.230(8) are not met, "nothing in this subsection bars the admission of testimony of a party or eyewitness to the intercepted, transmitted, or recorded conversation or communication when that testimony is unaided by information obtained solely by violation of RCW 9.73.030." There was no claim at any point that any of the live witnesses at the trial had been aided in their testimony by the suppressed recording. The live witnesses to the August 10th transaction were appropriately allowed to testify and this court should affirm the Appellants convictions.

d. THE WIRE AUTHORIZATIONS ADEQUATELY DESCRIBED THE LOCATIONS OF THE INTERCEPTS

The wire authorizations in this case contained sufficient specificity under the statute, given the circumstances of each transaction. While, as Appellant points out, the operations plan in each of the controlled buys was to make contact at Dairy Queen, it is important to note that none of the buys took place inside the Dairy Queen. Nor did Appellant ever get out of his car and enter the Dairy Queen. In each case, Appellant took the informant into his vehicle and drove away from the initial meeting location. RP 2301, RP 2303. For the first transaction, Appellant drove down the street before providing the drugs to the informant. RP 2257-58. For the second transaction, the same procedure occurred. RP 2259-2260. For the third transaction, the initial meeting location changed, but the deal was done in the informant's vehicle at least several blocks from the original intended location. RP 2262. In each transaction, the deal was done in a different location, in a different car, and in a place that law enforcement could not have anticipated. RP 2257-58, RP 2259-2260, RP 2262. Presumably, if the authorizations had indicated that "the plan was

to record conversations or communications at the Dairy Queen," as suggested by the Appellant in their brief, an objection would have been raised that neither of the parties ever entered the Dairy Queen and the officers exceeded the scope of the authorizations. App. Opening Brief pg. 60. Officers were aware, based on information provided by Hellesly, that Potts conducted all of his transactions while in a vehicle. CP23.

Officers provided as much information as was known at the time. In *Smith II*, officers devised a plan to send an informant to the apartment of a suspected drug dealer to conduct a drug transaction. 85 Wn.App. at 385, 932 P.2d. The authorization listed the expected location as "the greater [S]eattle, [K]ing [C]ounty area." *Id.*, 932 P.2d 717. The court found that this was insufficient, because the officers likely expected the recording to take place in the apartment and knew before the authorization was given. *Id.* at 390, 932 P.2d 717. A different wire in that case with the same boilerplate language was acceptable because at the time of the authorization, the officers did not have an expected location. *Id.*

Unlike *Smith*, the officers in this case did not know where the interception was going to take place. In this case, officers had a general plan to contact the individual and to meet at a Dairy Queen, but with no real expectation where the actual recording would take place. If an informant goes to the home of a drug suspect, it is reasonable to think that

the transaction would occur in that home. The same cannot be said where the informant is just going to try and meet someone at a specific location. What actually happened in this case bears this out, in that none of the communications were done in the Dairy Queen, they were each done in a different vehicle, and done in different locations. The officers in this case simply had no idea where the actual interception would take place.

Even if the court were to find that the authorizations were inadequate, any error in this case was harmless. Under *Smith II*, where there is a genuine effort to comply, the underlying testimony is still admissible even if the wire recordings are not. *Id.* 392, 932 P.2d 717. The court in *Smith II* found that because the authorization was otherwise compliant with the statute, in spite of the generic location, it demonstrated good faith and found that the detectives live testimony would have been admissible, rendering the admission of the recording harmless. *Id.* The same would hold true in this case, where the detectives and the informant both testified.

Additionally, reversal is only warranted if "the State fails to show substantial compliance, or the defendant shows prejudice due to the absence of strict compliance." *Knight*, 79 Wn.App. at 685, 904 P.2d 1159. There is evidence of substantial compliance by the State and the Appellant has established no prejudice arising from the technical defects in the authorizations, so reversal is not warranted.

e. DEFICIENCIES IN THE DISPOSITION REPORTS DID NOT RENDER THE RECORDED CONVERSATIONS INADMISSIBLE

Omission of the time and location of recording from the disposition reports should not render the wire recordings inadmissible. This technical defect is exactly the sort envisioned by the *Knight* court in examining RCW 9.73.230. There is no allegation in this argument that the authorizations were not based on probable cause, or were insufficient in a way related to their actual authority. Rather, Appellant's claim is essentially one of technical compliance. As previously noted regarding several other issues raised by the Appellant, where there is substantial compliance, the court will any error harmless. Reversal is not warranted unless the Appellant can show some prejudice arising from the technical defects. None are alleged. The Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

f. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT OVERTURN KNIGHT OR MOORE

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